# STATE OF CONNECTICUT

AUDITORS' REPORT STATE COMPTROLLER STATE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2003

AUDITORS OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS KEVIN P. JOHNSTON & ROBERT G. JAEKLE

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	1
COMMENTS:	1
Foreword	1
Officers	4
General Fund	4
Special Transportation Fund	8
Special Revenue Funds	12
Debt Service Funds	13
Capital Projects Funds	13
Internal Service Funds	14
Enterprise Funds	14
Fiduciary Funds	15
State Bond and Note Indebtedness	15
CONDITION OF RECORDS	19
RECOMMENDATIONS	20
CONCLUSION	21

#### June 16, 2004

#### AUDITORS' REPORT STATE COMPTROLLER - STATE FINANCIAL OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2003

We have examined the records of the Comptroller of the State of Connecticut as they pertain to the central accounting of State financial operations, on a budgetary basis of accounting, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. This report on that examination consists of the Comments which follow. The audit certification on the Comptroller's civil list financial statements, the audited civil list financial statements themselves, and the related auditors' report on compliance and internal control over civil list financial reporting are included in a separate report entitled Annual Report of the State Comptroller – Budgetary Basis, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. Throughout this report we will refer to various financial statements and schedules contained in this annual report, which is hereinafter referred to as the "Comptroller's Annual Report".

#### **COMMENTS**

#### **FOREWORD:**

The financial position as of June 30, 2003, and the 2002-2003 cash transactions of all State civil list funds, accounted for centrally in the records of both the State Comptroller and State Treasurer, are shown in Exhibit A and Schedule A-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. The financial position of the General Fund at June 30, 2003, together with a summary of operations for the year then ended, are shown in Exhibit B and Schedule B-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. Corresponding statements for the Special Transportation Fund are shown in Schedules C-2 and C-3, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. A summary of State bonds and notes outstanding as of June 30, 2003, the changes thereto, and the authorizations for future borrowings are shown in Schedules E-3, E-4, and E-5 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report.

The Comptroller prepares the financial statements of the State's civil list funds on a modified cash basis of accounting, consistent with the prior year, except for the accrual of certain expenditures, which accrual is more fully described below. The accounting basis used by the State of Connecticut was adopted by the Comptroller under the authority granted by Article Fourth, Section 24, of the Constitution of the State of Connecticut and with recognition of legislative authorizations. The modified cash basis of accounting permits an accrual of revenues at fiscal year end which includes the collections in July of Indian gaming payments and certain taxes levied as of June 30, and requires that expenditures be recorded in the year in which disbursements are made provided recognition is given to continuing appropriations. Those taxes for which July collections are accrued include sales and use taxes, personal income taxes, corporation taxes, gross earnings taxes on utility and petroleum companies, and taxes on alcoholic beverages, cigarettes, gasoline and special motor fuel.

Public Act 03-02, effective with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, allows the Comptroller to accrue to the preceding fiscal year all real estate conveyance tax payments postmarked by July 31 of that year. Public Act 03-02 also extended the deadline for accruing corporation tax

payments from the July 31 postmark to August 15, and allows the accrual of all income tax payments postmarked by July 31, instead of only those payments withheld by employers.

Under the modified cash basis of accounting used by the Comptroller, restricted revenues of the General and Special Transportation Funds are recognized when earned through the expenditure of grant funds, rather than when received or awarded. This accounting method was adopted to facilitate the Comptroller's conversion to reporting under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), as discussed later in this section.

Receivables which are reported by the Comptroller include Federal and other grants receivable recorded in connection with Federally supported programs or capital projects for which Federal or other outside participation is available, loans and notes receivable from local governments, nonprofit corporations, businesses or individuals and the accounts receivable of the University Health Center. Such receivables have been reported by the Comptroller as assets of the funds financing the projects or programs involved and are fully reserved on the balance sheet, except within the General Fund and Special Transportation Fund where the Federal and other grants receivable are the source of financing for restricted appropriations established for the purposes of the grants involved. In addition, loans made from the General Statutes, are accrued at fiscal year end, as is interest income of the Special Transportation Fund, which is accrued pursuant to the terms of a Special Tax Obligations Bond Indenture dated September 15, 1984.

Under the modified cash basis of accounting used by the Comptroller, expenditures are charged against appropriations of the year in which they are paid. It should be noted, however, that during the 2001-2002 fiscal year, pursuant to the provisions of Section 18 of Public Act 02-01 (May Special Session), the Comptroller was authorized to record as expenditures for said fiscal year, any expenditures made from July 1, 2002 to July 31, 2002, inclusive, which were charged to accounts receiving deficiency appropriations or deficiency transfers under this same Public Act. In accordance with this authorization, \$85,031,678 in expenditures processed during July 2002, were accrued by the Comptroller as accounts payable as of June 30, 2002.

This report covers the financial operations of the 2002-2003 fiscal year under a biennial budget adopted by the 2002 General Assembly. The financial accounting for the budget plans of the General Fund and Special Transportation Fund, as it applies to the 2002-2003 audit period, are included in this report.

In maintaining State accounting records and in preparing financial statements, the Comptroller, consistent with prior years, was guided by the aforementioned requirements and authorizations of State fiscal statutes as regards the method of accounting and fund classification. For this reason, therefore, the financial statements contained in the Comptroller's Annual Report are not, nor are they intended to be, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). In order for the Comptroller to follow such principles, among other things, expenditures would have to be recorded on an accrual rather than cash basis, all non-civil list funds and component units of the State would have to be included in the financial statements, all agencies' assets and contingent and long term liabilities would have to be recognized, and

appropriate footnote disclosures would have to be made in the financial statements.

In order to comply with GAAP, the Comptroller has instituted a separate reporting function which enables her Office to issue a separate Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) showing the State of Connecticut's financial position and results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. It should be noted that this report has customarily earned a "Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting" from the Government Finance Officers Association. Such a report, however, is in addition to the *Annual Report of the State Comptroller - Budgetary Basis*, which presents the State's financial operations as budgeted by the General Assembly. Because differing accounting bases are followed in preparing the two reports, substantial variances can occur in the presentation of the State's financial position, as well as, its operations.

As a result, the State's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report will probably gain widespread use and acceptance only if the legislative budget plan is prepared and enacted in accordance with GAAP and necessary changes made to State fiscal statutes. In that way, the CAFR will present, in a unified format, both the budgetary and actual financial operations of the State of Connecticut.

To accomplish this end the General Assembly, during the 1993 Regular Session, passed Public Act 93-402. This Act, effective with the fiscal year commencing July 1, 1995, authorized the State Comptroller and the Office of Policy and Management to implement the use of GAAP with respect to the preparation of the biennial budget and financial statements of the State of Connecticut. These two agencies worked to implement the provisions of a conversion plan that was developed in accordance with Public Act 93-402. This plan was submitted to the Appropriations Committee of the General Assembly on February 1, 1994. Implementation plans were adjusted accordingly, however, when the General Assembly, through the passage of Public Act 95-178, Public Act 97-305, and Public Act 99-1 (June Special Session), postponed the State's conversion to GAAP budgeting from the fiscal year commencing July 1, 1995, to the fiscal year commencing July 1, 2003. This conversion was postponed further, to July 1, 2005, by the passage of Public Act 03-1, in the June 2003 Special Session. It should be noted that the above provisions were codified in Section 3-115b of the General Statutes.

#### **OFFICERS:**

During the 2002-2003 fiscal year the officers of the Office of the Comptroller were as follows:

State Comptroller: Nancy S. Wyman

Deputy Comptroller: Mark E. Ojakian

#### **GENERAL FUND:**

The financial position of the General Fund at June 30, 2003, together with a summary of operations recorded for the year then ended, are shown in Exhibit B and Schedule B-1,

respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report.

General Fund operations were conducted under a biennial budget plan, which estimated revenues and provided for expenditures of the 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 fiscal years. Special Act 01-01 (June Special Session), the Budget Act, enacted by the 2001 General Assembly, included appropriations for the 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 fiscal years and revenue estimates of its Committee on Finance, Revenue and Bonding. The biennial budget plan was adjusted by the passage of Public Act 02-1 (May Special Session) by the 2002 General Assembly. Public Act 03-2, passed by the 2003 General Assembly further adjusted the budget by making significant reductions in appropriations and increases in revenues in order to address a projected General Fund deficit.

Under budget procedures customarily in effect, the estimates of revenues and the budgeted appropriations, taken in conjunction with whatever surplus or deficit was carried over from the preceding fiscal period, after consideration of any statutorily required transfers, give rise to an anticipated surplus or deficit projected through the end of the fiscal year. The budget plan for the 2002-2003 fiscal year as reported by the Comptroller may be expressed as follows:

Estimated Revenues, 2002-2003, as Revised by the Committee on Finance, Revenue and Bonding		\$12,09	91,900,000
Budgeted Appropriations, 2002-2003,			
As revised	\$12,343,703,703		
Estimated lapsing appropriations	(251,900,000)		
Net Appropriations		12,09	1,803,703
Anticipated Surplus (Deficit), June 30, 2003		\$	96,297

The actual results of the operations of the 2002-2003 fiscal year are presented in Schedule B-1 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. An analysis of budgeted General Fund accounts follows:

Actual Budgeted Revenues, 2002-2003		\$12,023,325,022
Appropriations, 2002-2003	\$12,527,036,992	
Add/(Deduct)		
Appropriations lapsed	(230,057,029)	
Net Appropriations		12,296,979,963
Balance		(273,654,941)
Prior Year Budgeted Appropriations		
Continued to 2002-2003 Fiscal Year		168,623,928
Miscellaneous adjustments		8,416,078
Unappropriated Surplus, June 30, 2003,		
per Schedule B-1		\$ (96,614,935)

The variances between the actual results of operations and the original budget plan may be explained as follows:

- 1. Actual revenues were some \$68,500,000 less than originally estimated. Those revenue categories that showed the greatest deficiencies were personal income taxes, \$289,900,000, and sales and use taxes, \$115,500,000. Also, there were deficiencies in Indian gaming payments, \$11,700,000, and investment income, \$20,900,000. These were partially offset by increases in other tax revenues, such as corporations, inheritance and estate, cigarettes and tobacco, insurance companies, public service corporations, oil companies, and real estate conveyance.
- 2. Appropriations showed an increase of approximately \$14,700,000 from the budget plan reported by the Comptroller. The net increase was primarily from additions by administrative order in the amounts of \$8,665,466 and \$9,441,859, for adjudicated claims and refunds of escheated property, respectively.
- 3. Lapsed appropriations were lower than estimated; this was after significant adjustments were made to projected lapses. The shortfall was the result of projected reductions and economies that were not realized.
- 4. Other operating factors included net operating transfers to and from other State funds, as well as adjustments for prior year check cancellations and restricted account lapses.

A statement of changes in the unappropriated surplus account of the General Fund for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, is presented in Schedule B-1 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. It should be noted that Section 4-30a of the General Statutes, as revised by Public Act 03-2, provides that the unappropriated surplus that remains in the General Fund at the end of the fiscal year, after any amounts required by law to be transferred for other purposes have been deducted, shall be deposited to the Budget Reserve Fund, provided that the amount so transferred shall not cause the balance in such fund to exceed ten percent of the net General Fund appropriations for the fiscal year in progress.

The deficit balance of \$96,614,935 in the General Fund at June 30, 2003, was subsequently financed with General Obligation Economic Recovery Notes that were issued by the State Treasurer during the 2003-2004 fiscal year, pursuant to the provisions of Public Act 03-1 (September Special Session).

As previously explained in this report, the State Comptroller follows a practice of recording within the General Fund the accrual of certain revenues, without a corresponding accrual of expenditures. This accounting practice resulted in the accrual of more than \$792,000,000 in revenues, which would, under a cash basis system of accounting, be recorded in the 2003-2004 fiscal year. If there had been a similar accrual of expenditures as required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), there would have been added to General Fund expenditures a total estimated to be as high as \$1,052,200,000 during the first year only of any conversion to GAAP budgeting by the State. It should be noted that these expenditure accruals would be offset in part by additional revenue accruals of some \$306,500,000 under GAAP.

General Fund revenues for the 2002-2003 fiscal year, inclusive of revenues restricted for special purposes, amounted to \$13,278,034,503 as shown in Schedule B-1 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. Included in this total were budgeted revenues in the amount of

\$12,023,325,022. This latter amount represented an increase of some \$1,177,899,741 over the budgeted revenue total reported by the Comptroller for the preceding fiscal year.

The budgeted revenue categories, which showed the greatest change during the fiscal year under audit, were as follows:

		Nearest Thousand <u>Dollars</u>
Taxes:	<i>•</i>	
Personal income	\$	(2,842,000)
Sales and use		27,978,000
Corporations		126,990,000
Inheritance and estate		31,228,000
Insurance companies		21,988,000
Public service corporations		31,362,000
Cigarettes and Tobacco		95,148,000
Real estate conveyance		28,600,000
Oil companies		93,142,000
All others (net)		13,125,000
Refunds of Taxes		32,134,000
Total Increase (Decrease) in Taxes		498,853,000
Other Revenues and Sources:		
Transfers – Special Revenue		(14,813,000)
Indian gaming payments		183,020,000
Licenses, permits and fees		(12,338,000)
Rents, Fines and Escheats		33,870,000
Investment income		(16,745,000)
Miscellaneous		70,456,000
Federal grants		176,151,000
Statutory transfers to/from other funds - net		424,163,000
All others (net)		70,457,000
Total Increase (Decrease) in Other Revenues and Sources		679,046,000
Total Increases (Decreases)	\$1	1,177,900,000

Certain changes to the State's revenue structure were enacted by the General Assembly part way through the fiscal year, which impacted the 2002-2003 fiscal year receipt collections. Public Act 03-2, effective February 28, 2003, made several changes to the State budget in order to address a projected budget deficit for the 2002-2003 fiscal year. In order to raise approximately \$485,000,000 in additional revenue, it raised the personal income tax top rate to from four and one half to five percent, it imposed a 20 percent surtax on corporate earnings, it eliminated various sales and use tax exemptions, and increased the cigarette tax from \$1.11 to \$1.51 per pack, among other changes.

These changes were enacted by the General Assembly as a result of General Fund revenue collections being lower than originally anticipated in the original budget. The economy

remained sluggish throughout the entire 2002-2003 fiscal year affecting both sales and income tax collections. Lingering concerns about terrorist attacks and corporate accounting scandals were also factors in keeping business and investor confidence low, which had a direct impact on revenue collections.

In addition to the aforementioned budgeted revenues, non-budgeted revenues totalling \$1,254,709,481 were credited to the General Fund. These revenues represented Federal and other grant revenues restricted for special purposes. Restricted revenues from Federal grants totaled \$954,844,448. Restricted revenues from other sources totaled \$299,865,033. As mentioned previously in this report, such restricted revenue is recognized by the Comptroller when earned through the expenditure of grant funds, rather than when received or awarded.

General Fund expenditures for the 2002-2003 fiscal year, inclusive of expenditures from accounts restricted for special purposes, amounted to \$13,465,042,886 as shown in Schedule B-1 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. Included in this total were budgeted expenditures in the amount of \$12,210,333,000.

This latter amount represented an increase of some \$23,307,000 over the total budgeted expenditures reported by the Comptroller for the preceding 2001-2002 fiscal year. A summary of the areas of significant changes in expenditures from budgeted accounts of the General Fund follows:

	Nearest Thousand
	<u>Dollars</u>
Personal Services	\$ (35,807,000)
Other Current Expenses:	
Policy and Management - primarily Andriaen's Landing project	(30,433,000)
Mental Retardation - primarily residential and day services	20,749,000
Mental Health - primarily general assistance managed care	26,817,000
Workers' Compensation Claims - prior year one-time premium	
for transfer of certain claims liabilities to third-party insurer	(22,030,000)
Department of Transportation - Town Aid Road grants	(31,922,000)
State Employees' Health Service Costs	26,070,000
Retired State Employees' Health Service Costs	37,129,000
All Other - primarily contractual services and commodities	(20,224,000)
Fixed Charges:	
State Aid Grants:	
Policy and Management - primarily elimination of various	
capital grants programs	(48,904,000)
Social Services - Medicaid, independent living assistance,	
pharmaceutical assistance to the elderly, child care	
assistance and other public assistance programs	150,520,000
Teachers' Retirement System - actuarial funding	(23,806,000)
Children and Families - primarily board and care of children	15,940,000
All Other	(23,496,000)
Capital Outlay	(16,372,000)

Total Net Increase

#### \$ 23,307,000

The level of funding provided by the General Assembly for personal services costs declined, primarily from layoffs and an early retirement incentive program implemented in April. State aid grants and State program operating costs also decreased in certain areas; however it was offset with increased costs for public assistance programs, primarily Title XIX - Medicaid. In addition, fringe benefit costs increased as a result of increases in health insurance premiums for active and retired State employees.

#### SPECIAL TRANSPORTATION FUND:

The Special Transportation Fund operates in accordance with the provisions of Title 13b, Chapter 243, Part I, of the General Statutes. Section 13b-61 provides that the following revenues be credited to the Special Transportation Fund:

- Motor fuel taxes
- Motor vehicle taxes
- Motor vehicle receipts for licenses, registrations, and title fees
- Motor vehicle related fines and penalties
- Highway, bridge and ferry revenues
- Federal aid (transportation related)
- Fees for relocation of gasoline stations
- Fees for motor fuel quality registration of distributors
- Fees for motor fuel dispensers and weighing or measuring devices
- Fees for the issuance of identity cards
- Fees for safety marker plates
- Late fees for the emission inspection of motor vehicles
- Sale of information by the Department of Motor Vehicles
- Fees imposed to double fines resulting from moving violations occurring in a designated school zone.

Section 13b-69 of the General Statutes provides that the resources accumulated by the Special Transportation Fund are to be used for:

- The payment of debt service on Transportation Infrastructure bonds which are issued in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 243, Part II, of the General Statutes, as special tax obligation bonds.
- The payment of debt service on other transportation related bonds issued by the State.
- The funding of appropriations for the Department of Transportation and the Department of Motor Vehicles.

The financial position of the Special Transportation Fund at June 30, 2003, excluding those resources held by the Trustee under the Indenture of Trust for the Transportation Infrastructure

special tax obligation bonds, is presented in Schedule C-2 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. A statement of the changes in unappropriated surplus of the Fund for the fiscal year then ended is shown in Schedule C-3 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. It should be noted that cash and investments totalling \$615,380,856 which are being held by the Trustee, are reported on Exhibit A of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report under Debt Service Funds.

Special Transportation Fund operations, like the General Fund, were conducted under a biennial budget plan which estimated revenues and provided for expenditures of the 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 fiscal years. Special Act 01-01 (June Special Session), the Budget Act for the Special Transportation Fund, enacted by the 2001 General Assembly, included appropriations for the 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 fiscal years and revenue estimates of its Committee on Finance, Revenue and Bonding. These were amended by the passage of Public Act 02-1 (May Special Session) by the 2002 General Assembly, and Public Act 03-2 by the 2003 General Assembly.

Under budget procedures customarily in effect, the estimates of revenues and the budgeted appropriations, taken in conjunction with whatever surplus or deficit was carried over from the preceding fiscal period give rise to an anticipated surplus or deficit projected through the end of the fiscal year. The budget plan for the 2002-2003 fiscal year as reported by the Comptroller may be expressed as follows:

Estimated Revenues, 2002-2003, as			
Revised by the Committee on Finance,			
Revenue and Bonding		\$90	4,000,000
Budgeted Appropriations, 2002-2003,			
as revised	\$946,354,000		
Estimated lapsing appropriations	(15,000,000)		
Net Appropriations		93	1,354,000
Anticipated Operating Surplus, 2002-2003		(2	7,354,000)
Add - Anticipated Surplus at June 30, 2002		2	8,192,000
Anticipated Surplus, June 30, 2003		\$	838,000

The actual results of the operations of the 2002-2003 fiscal year are presented in Schedule C-3 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. An analysis of the Special Transportation Fund surplus follows:

Actual Budgeted Revenues, 2002-2003		\$827,104,684
Appropriations, 2002-2003	\$946,364,680	
Add/(Deduct)		
Appropriations lapsed	(34,318,649)	
Net Appropriations		912,046,031
Balance		(84,941,347)
Unappropriated Surplus, June 30, 2002		189,681,858
Prior Year Budgeted Appropriations		
Continued to 2002-2003 Fiscal Year		28,192,228
Miscellaneous adjustments		15,462
Unappropriated Surplus, June 30, 2003,		

per Schedule C-3

## \$132,948,201

The variances between the actual results of operations and the original budget plan may be explained as follows:

- 1. Actual revenues were some \$76,895,000 less than anticipated. This was primarily the result of the transfer of \$46,000,00 in oil company taxes, and a transfer of \$52,000,000 in Special Transportation Fund receipts to the General Fund required by Public Act 03-2. There was also a decline of \$13,080,000 in interest income. This was partly offset by an increase of \$27,700,000 in motor fuel tax receipts and an increase of \$10,000,000 in motor vehicle tax receipts and license fees.
- 2. Lapsed appropriations were some \$19,300,000 higher than estimated, due primarily to a reduction in town aid road grants, reduced debt service costs, and a reduction in personal services costs because of layoffs and an early retirement program.

Special Transportation Fund revenues for the 2002-2003 fiscal year, inclusive of revenues restricted for special purposes, amounted to \$920,863,912, as shown in Schedule C-3 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. Included in this total were budgeted revenues in the amount of \$827,104,684. This latter amount represented an decrease of some \$69,789,123 over the budgeted revenue total reported by the Comptroller for the preceding 2001-2002 fiscal year.

The budgeted revenue categories, which showed the greatest change during the fiscal year under audit, were as follows:

	Nearest Thousand <u>Dollars</u>
Taxes:	
Motor fuels tax	\$ 27,704,000
Oil Companies	(46,000,000)
Sales tax collected by Department of Motor Vehicles	299,000
Refunds of taxes – increase	(741,000)
Other Revenues:	
Motor vehicle receipts	4,134,000
Licenses, permits and fees	5,888,000
Interest income	(13,081,000)
Release from Debt Service	2,634,000
Transfers to Other Funds-increase	(51,000,000)
Refunds of payments – decrease	374,000
Total Net Increase (Decrease)	\$ (69,789,000)

The above decrease was primarily attributable to the deposit of oil companies taxes to the General Fund instead of the Special Transportation Fund, the transfer of \$52,000,000 to the General Fund required by Public Act 03-3 as explained above, and the reduced level of interest income. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in motor fuel tax collections.

In addition to the aforementioned budgeted revenues, non-budgeted revenues totalling \$93,759,228 were credited to the Special Transportation Fund. These revenues represented Federal and other grant revenues restricted for special purposes primarily for highway planning and construction. Restricted revenues from Federal grants totaled \$86,689,543. Restricted revenues from other sources totaled \$7,069,685. As mentioned previously in this report, such restricted revenue is recognized by the Comptroller when earned through the expenditure of the grant funds, rather than when received or awarded.

Special Transportation Fund expenditures for the 2002-2003 fiscal year, inclusive of expenditures from accounts restricted for special purposes, amounted to \$985,938,850 as shown in Schedule C-3 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. Included in this total were budgeted expenditures in the amount of \$892,179,622. This latter amount represented an increase of some \$10,058,595 from the total budgeted expenditures reported by the Comptroller for the preceding 2001-2002 fiscal year. A summary of the areas of significant changes in expenditures from budgeted accounts of the Special Transportation Fund follows:

	Nearest Thousand <u>Dollars</u>
State Comptroller:	
State employee retirement contributions and health services	
costs - employer share	\$ 6,688,000
Department of Motor Vehicles:	
Personal Services	(1,470,000)
Reflective License Plates	(2,902,000)
Department of Transportation:	
Personal services	(10,340,000)
Other expenses	1,808,000
Transit Equipment	(15,586,000)
Town Aid Road Grants	15,936,000
Rail and Bus operations	16,974,000
Highway and bridge renewal	(4,432,000)
All other (net)	3,383,000
Total Net Increase (Decrease)	\$10,059,000

The above increase in expenditures was primarily attributable to increases in personal service costs and related fringe benefit costs, which resulted from cost-of-living increase provisions contained in various collective bargaining agreements and increases in expenditures for bus and rail transit operations. In addition, the payment of town aid road grants was transferred from the General Fund, to the Special Transportation Fund

#### **SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS:**

This category of funds was established to group those funds accounting for the expenditure of revenues that have been restricted to specific programs. Included in this category is the Special Transportation Fund. However, because of the size and importance of this Fund, it has

been incorporated into this report under a separate heading preceding this section.

The financial position of the combined Special Revenue Funds at June 30, 2003, together with the cash transactions for the fiscal year ended on that date, are shown in Exhibit C and Schedule C-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. At June 30, 2003, there were 57 authorized funds within this category, with the Special Transportation Fund being by far the largest. Of these 57 funds, the following nine funds operate under legislatively enacted budget plans:

- Banking Fund (1102)
- Insurance Fund (1104)
- Consumer Counsel and Public Utility Control Fund (1106)
- Workers' Compensation Administration Fund (1108)
- Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan Fund (1114)
- Soldiers', Sailors' and Marines' Fund (1115)
- Regional Market Operation Fund (1129)
- Criminal Injuries Compensation Fund (1139)
- Special Transportation Fund (1201)

Additional comments concerning the operations of each individual Special Revenue Fund will be contained in audit reports covering the various State agencies administering or using such funds.

#### **DEBT SERVICE FUNDS:**

This category of funds was established to account for the accumulation of resources for, and payment of, principal and interest on certain State issued bonds and notes. While as a rule the bulk of general obligation bonds of the State are liquidated from General Fund and Special Transportation Fund appropriations, most so-called self-liquidating general obligation bond issues are retired by payment from these funds.

The financial position of the combined Debt Service Funds at June 30, 2003, together with the cash transactions for the fiscal year ended on that date, are shown in Exhibit D and Schedule D-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. At June 30, 2003, there were five authorized funds within the Debt Service Funds category. The largest debt service fund, entitled "Transportation Special Tax Obligations" (2025), is used to account for cash and investments held by a trustee for debt service payments on bonds issued to finance the State's infrastructure program.

#### **CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS:**

This category of funds was established to group those funds which account for financial resources used to acquire or construct major capital facilities, including highways and bridges. The major source of financing for these funds is the proceeds of various State bond issues. Other sources include Federal aid and other restricted contributions available to meet a portion of the capital outlay costs.

The financial position of the combined Capital Projects Funds at June 30, 2003, and the cash transactions of the 2002-2003 fiscal year, are set forth in Exhibit E and Schedule E-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. At June 30, 2003, there were 73 authorized funds within the Capital Projects Funds category.

The total unreserved fund balances of Capital Projects Funds increased by \$484,618,523 during the 2002-2003 fiscal year to a deficit balance of \$1,825,095,559, as of June 30, 2003. It should be pointed out that the issuance of bonds already authorized, as shown in Schedule E-5, as well as the collection of those receivables fully reserved in Exhibit A and Exhibit E, will eliminate this deficit balance.

Under the provisions of Sections 3-39a and 13a-166 of the General Statutes, the State Comptroller is authorized to record certain receivables and such amounts are deemed to be appropriated for the purposes designated in the written agreements establishing the receivables (Section 3-39a) or for the financing of the Federal share of highway projects approved by the Federal Highway Administration (Section 13a-166). During the 2002-2003 fiscal year, receivables recorded totalled \$411,686,398. These receivables, for the most part, were in connection with Department of Transportation projects for mass transportation and highway and bridge construction and repair.

#### **INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS:**

This category of funds was established to group those funds accounting for the costs and billings for goods and services provided by State agencies to other agencies or governmental units. These costs are recovered by transfer charges to user agencies so that authorized working capital of the funds is kept intact.

The financial position of the combined Internal Service Funds at June 30, 2003, together with the cash transactions for the fiscal year then ended are shown in Exhibit F and Schedule F-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. At June 30, 2003, there were four authorized funds within the Internal Service Funds category.

Exhibit A of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report recognizes, as reserved within fund balances and related reserves, the allotment and appropriation balances in force at June 30, 2003, and which have been carried forward to the 2003-2004 fiscal year on the records of the State Comptroller. This has resulted in additional deficit unreserved fund balances being reported in Exhibit A and Exhibit F of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report because the assets and resources to meet these allotment balances are already reserved or, more likely, are not recorded by the Comptroller. Those assets and resources not recorded include inventories and receivables reported only by the agencies administering the funds involved.

Additional comments concerning the operations of each individual Internal Service Fund will be contained in audit reports covering the various State agencies administering such funds.

#### **ENTERPRISE FUNDS:**

This category of funds was established to group those proprietary funds that provide for the financing of goods and services to the public and recover costs by user charges.

The financial position and fiscal year cash transactions of the combined Enterprise Funds, as accounted for in the records of the State Comptroller, are shown in Exhibit G and Schedule G-1, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. At June 30, 2003, there were 19 authorized funds within the Enterprise Funds category. Additional comments concerning the operations of each individual Enterprise Fund will be contained in audit reports covering the various State agencies administering such funds.

#### **FIDUCIARY FUNDS:**

The financial position of the combined Fiduciary Funds at June 30, 2003, and the cash transactions for the year then ended are shown in Exhibit H and Schedule H-1, respectively of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. The funds included under this caption may be classified into three types:

- Receipts held pending distribution to State funds, municipalities, private companies or individuals.
- Deposits held by the State for security, guarantees, awards or distributions.
- Retirement funds for State and municipal employees held in trust by the State Treasurer.

At June 30, 2003, there were 32 authorized funds within the Fiduciary Funds category. Additional comments concerning the operations of each individual Fiduciary Fund will be contained in audit reports covering the various State agencies administering or using such funds.

#### STATE BOND AND NOTE INDEBTEDNESS:

The State's bond and note indebtedness at June 30, 2003, payable from future revenue of State funds is shown in Exhibit A of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report. A summary of bonds and notes outstanding and maturity schedules, detailing the funding requirements of specific bond and note issues, are presented in Schedule E-3 and Schedule E-4, respectively, of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report.

The State's bond and note indebtedness aggregated \$13,132,452,099 at June 30, 2003, an increase of \$629,317,515 over the total of \$12,503,134,584 at June 30, 2002. This was the net result of the issuance during the 2002-2003 fiscal year of new bonds of the State in the amount of \$2,333,650,000, while scheduled principal payments and refunded and defeased bonds during the period amounted to \$1,704,333,000. In addition, a total of \$219,235,000 in economic recovery notes was issued during the 2002-2003 fiscal year. Scheduled interest costs through maturity on the aforementioned bond and note indebtedness, as shown in Schedule E-4 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report, totalled \$5,884,490,000. Accordingly, as of June 30, 2003, the State was committed to future debt service on bonds and notes outstanding in the aggregate of \$19,016,942,000. This total represented an increase of \$603,677,000 over the similar figure at June 30, 2002.

Included in the totals of bond and note indebtedness are revenue and refunding bonds outstanding in the amount of \$311,960,000 for improvements to Bradley International Airport. The proceeds of such bonds are being held and disbursed by a Trustee and all revenue of the airport's operations is being deposited with the Trustee. Principal and interest payments on such bonds are being met from funds held by the Trustee. Similarly included in the totals of bond and note indebtedness are the revenue bonds outstanding of \$3,186,118,000 for the State's Transportation Infrastructure Program. While the proceeds of such bonds are held and accounted for in the usual manner, debt service reserve amounts and principal and interest payments on such bonds are being handled by a Trustee.

Partially offsetting the aforementioned indebtedness were unreserved fund balances of \$664,801,938, within the debt service fund group, which were available for debt service at June 30, 2003.

In addition to the foregoing bond indebtedness at June 30, 2003, there was in force as of that date unused borrowing authorizations totalling \$1,698,378,000 and prospective authorizations, subject to Bond Commission approval, totalling \$1,228,355,000. These authorization balances, which are detailed in Schedule E-5 of the Comptroller's 2003 Annual Report, may be summarized as follows:

		Subject to Approval of State Bond
Purpose or Agency	<u>In Force</u>	<u>Commission</u>
Municipal and Economic Development	\$ 349,769,000	\$ 215,578,000
Capital Improvements and Other Purposes	267,792,000	458,672,000
Industrial Building Mortgage Insurance	19,450,000	1,000,000
Highway and Bridge Construction Repair	3,903,000	0
Transportation Infrastructure Improvement	357,663,000	15,000,000
Transportation Facilities and Improvements	164,000	0
Elimination of Water Pollution	325,804,000	324,903,000
Grants to Municipalities and Others	237,598,000	147,677,000
Local Capital Improvements	0	17,500,000
Preservation of Agricultural Lands	5,794,000	3,457,000
University and State University Facilities	295,000	0
Housing Programs	26,523,000	19,484,000
State Equipment Purchases	19,957,000	9,000,000
School Construction	76,421,000	0
All Other Purposes	7,245,000	16,086,000
Total Authorizations	\$1,698,378,000	\$1,228,355,000

It should be noted that, in accordance with the debt limitation provisions contained in Section 3-21 of the General Statutes, no bonds, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness for borrowed money payable from General Fund tax receipts of the State shall be authorized by the General Assembly except as shall not cause the aggregate amount of (1) the total amount of such indebtedness authorized by the General Assembly but not yet issued and (2) the total amount of such indebtedness which has been issued but remains outstanding, to exceed 1.6 times the total estimated General Fund tax receipts of the State for the fiscal year in which any such authorization will become effective, as estimated by the joint standing committee of the General Assembly having cognizance of finance, revenue and bonding. Such tax receipts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, were estimated as of December 16, 2003, to total \$8,624,000,000. As of December 16, 2003, the State Treasurer determined that authorizations for bonds, notes, and other obligations subject to such limit, net of debt retirement fund resources related to certain self-liquidating bond issues, totalled \$12,233,028,914. Accordingly, as of this date, the State's debt incurring margin totalled \$1,565,371,086.

In addition to the indebtedness previously mentioned, there were other obligations that, although not in the form of State bonds or notes, constituted long-term indebtedness or the guarantee of existing indebtedness. Such obligations included:

- 1. Obligations of the State to towns for participation in the construction and alteration of school buildings, under Section 10-287 of the General Statutes (installment payments) in the amount of some \$792,200,000, and Sections 10-287g and 10-287h (interest subsidy) in the amount of some \$235,000,000. It should be noted that Sections 10-287g and 10-287h were repealed by Public Act 97-11 (June Special Session) for construction projects approved subsequent to July 1, 1997. With regard to projects approved after July 1, 1997, this same Public Act established a new financing method, which provides for the State to pay for its share of school construction costs on a "progress payment" basis. As of June 30, 2003, the State Board of Education estimates that grant payments under this latter program will total some \$2,480,000,000.
- 2. The obligation of Section 5-156a of the General Statutes to fund the State Employees' Retirement System on an actuarial reserve basis over a remaining period of 28 years. The last actuarial survey of the system was performed as of June 30, 2003, and showed an unfunded accrued liability of \$6,165,199,771.
- 3. The obligation of Section 51-49d of the General Statutes to fund the Judges' and Compensation Commissioners' Retirement System on an actuarial reserve basis over a remaining period of 28 years. The last actuarial survey of the system was performed as of June 30, 2003, and showed an unfunded accrued liability of \$68,331,849.
- 4. The obligation of Section 10-183z of the General Statutes to fund the Teachers' Retirement System on an actuarial reserve basis over a remaining period of 26 years. The last actuarial survey of the system was performed as of June 30, 2002, and showed an unfunded accrued liability of \$3,292,536,729.
- 5. Loans under the "Umbrella" and "Insurance" programs, insured by the State (\$25,000,000 maximum limit) through the Connecticut Development Authority, which totalled \$16,334,599 at June 30, 2003, and bonds of the Authority for the "Umbrella" Loan Program in the aggregate of \$8,065,000 at June 30, 2003. These, however, are contingent indebtedness of the State; actual indebtedness would result only in the event of a loan default or the inability of the Authority to make the payment of bonds and notes. In addition to the above, other loan guarantees totalling \$7,940,701 have been extended by the Authority as of June 30, 2003, under a program provided for in Section 32-261 of the General Statutes.
- 6. Notes of the Southeastern Connecticut Water Authority guaranteed by the State in the amount of some \$700,000 at December 16, 2003.
- 7. The State of Connecticut is contingently liable to the Connecticut Housing Finance Authority, the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority and the Connecticut Higher Education Supplemental Loan Authority for amounts needed annually to

maintain debt service reserves for one year's principal and interest on certain Authority bonds in the event Authority funds are insufficient to do so. As of December 16, 2003, the principal amount of outstanding bonds, secured by special capital reserve funds, for the Housing Finance Authority, the Resources Recovery Authority, and the Higher Education Supplemental Loan Authority totalled \$3,074,600,000, \$240,300,000, and \$121,500,000, respectively.

- 8. Under a contractual agreement with a management company to operate local transit service in and adjacent to the cities of Hartford, New Haven, and Stamford, the State of Connecticut, upon termination of such agreement, is obligated to assume all existing liabilities of the management company, including but not limited to all liabilities for past, present and future pension plan obligations. Such liabilities and obligations totalled \$2,066,805, as of January 1, 2003.
- 9. Pursuant to Section 10a-186a of the General Statutes, the State of Connecticut is contingently liable to the Connecticut Health and Educational Facilities Authority (CHEFA) for amounts needed annually to maintain debt service reserves for one year's principal and interest on those Authority bonds used to finance projects at participating nursing homes or to finance dormitories or facilities for the provision of student housing at public and private institutions of higher education, in the event Authority funds are insufficient to do so. As of December 16, 2003, the principal amount of outstanding bonds secured by special capital reserve funds totalled some \$374,000,000.
- 10. Pursuant to Section 10a-109g, subsection (i), of the General Statutes, the State of Connecticut is contingently liable to the University of Connecticut for amounts needed annually to maintain debt service reserves for one year's principal and interest on certain University bonds in the event University funds are insufficient to do so. As of December 16, 2003, the principal amount of outstanding bonds, secured by special capital reserve funds for the University totalled \$29,800,000.
- 11. In accordance with the provisions of Special Act 01-1, as subsequently amended by Special Act 01-2 of the June Special Session, the State of Connecticut is authorized to guarantee debt issued by the City of Waterbury in an amount not to exceed \$100,000,000. As of December 16, 2003, the amount of the City's obligations guaranteed by the State totalled \$97,500,000.

## **CONDITION OF RECORDS**

# Findings:

There are no audit findings presented as a result of our current audit examination.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Status of Prior Audit Recommendations:

State Comptroller – State Financial Operations Audit Report

• There were no recommendations presented in our prior audit report.

State of Connecticut - Single Audit Report

• There were no recommendations presented in our prior Single Audit Report

Current Audit Recommendations:

• There are no recommendations presented as a result of our current audit examination.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we wish to express our appreciation of the courtesies shown to our representatives during the course of our audit. The assistance and cooperation extended to them by the personnel of the State Comptroller's Office in making their records readily available and in explaining transactions as required greatly facilitated the conduct of this examination.

Matthew Rugens Administrative Auditor

Approved:

Kevin P. Johnston Auditor of Public Accounts Robert G. Jaekle Auditor of Public Accounts